
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 : 

Dr. PAGE CAROL WOODS, and Dr. : 

NATHANIAL WOODS jr. individually and : 

o/b/o N.W., a minor​ : 

: 

Plaintiff,   :

:      CIVIL ACTION NO.  ________      

v. :       

: 

: 

WILLIAMSPORT AREA SCHOOL ​ : 

DISTRICT and;​ : 

RICHARD CASCHERA in his individual : 

and official capacity and; ​ : 

DR. JUSTIN ROSS in his individual and​ :  ​ JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

official capacity and;​ : 

MR. MATTHEW FISHER in his individual​ : 

and official capacity and;​ : 

MS. ALICIA DIFFER in her individual​ : 

and official capacity and;​ : 

JOHN/JANE DOES 1-5.​ : 

:​
Defendants.​ :​

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, by and through their undersigned attorneys, bring this Complaint 

against the above-named Defendants, agents, and successors in office, to safeguard 

their rights under the United States Constitution, State, and Federal law, and in 

support thereof allege the following: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This is a civil rights action brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to redress the

violation of Plaintiff ’s rights under the Fourth Amendments to the United
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States Constitution, the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

and various other theories arising under Federal and State law.  

2.​ Plaintiff, a minor student, was subjected to an unlawful and intrusive seizure 

by school officials, namely Defendant Caschera, without a warrant, probable 

cause, or reasonable suspicion. 

3.​ The seizure conducted by Defendants was excessive, unjustified, and 

conducted without consent, and it invaded Plaintiff ’s Fourteenth Amendment 

right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures of his person. The 

excessive and unjustified seizure also invades upon Plaintiff ’s rights under 

the Pennsylvania Constitution. Pa. Const. Art I § 8.  

4.​ This unlawful seizure, upon information and belief, was motivated by racial 

animus.  

5.​ At all relevant times, Defendants acted under color of state law and in their 

official capacities as employees or agents of a public school. 

6.​ This action seeks to hold Defendants accountable for their unconstitutional 

conduct and to deter similar violations of student rights in the future. 

7.​ Defendants further are liable for tortious conduct including battery, assault 

and false imprisonment.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8.​ This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343(a)(3), as this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the 

United States, including 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
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9.​ Venue is proper in the Middle District of Pennsylvania under 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b), as the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this District. 

PARTIES 

10.​Plaintiff Dr. Page Carol Woods is the parent and natural guardian of N.W., a 

minor child, and a resident of Lycoming County. Plaintiff resides at 46 

Fairview Ave, Williamsport, PA 17701. 

11.​Plaintiff Dr. Nathaniel Woods, jr. is the parent and natural guardian of N.W., 

a minor child, and a resident of Lycoming County. Plaintiff resides at 46 

Fairview Ave, Williamsport, PA 17701. 

12.​Plaintiff N.W. is a minor, a rising senior in the Williamsport Area School 

District, attending Williamsport High School. N.W. is a resident of Lycoming 

County. Plaintiff N.W. resides at 46 Fairview Ave, Williamsport, PA 17701. 

Plaintiff N.W. is programmed for under a 504 plan.  

13.​Defendant Williamsport Area School District (the “District”) is a 

governmental entity organized to provide K-12 educational services. Upon 

information and belief, Defendant Williamsport Area School District’s 

primary place of business is 2990 West Fourth Street, Williamsport, PA 1770.  

14.​Defendant  Williamsport Area School District is a “state actor” for all 

purposes under United States civil rights laws, including 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

15.​Defendant Richard Caschera was at all relevant times a teacher in the 

Homeland Security Program at Williamsport Area High School. As of the 
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date of this filing Defendant Caschera is not a licensed teacher in the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  

16.​Defendant Dr. Justin Ross was at all relevant times the principal of 

Williamsport Area High School and was the chief administrator within the 

school.  

17.​Defendant Matthew Fisher was at all relevant times the Director of Career 

and Technical Education of Williamsport Area High School and held 

administrative responsibilities and authority under the direction of 

Defendant Ross. Defendant was the direct superior of Defendant Caschera.  

18.​Defendant Alica Differ was at all relevant times an Associate Principal at 

Williamsport Area High School specifically tasked with acting as the 

Associate Principal for the junior and senior class.  

19.​The true names and capacities, of Defendants JOHN/JANE DOES 1-5 are 

unknown to the Plaintiffs, who therefore sue these Defendants by such 

fictitious names. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that 

each of the Defendants designated herein as JOHN/JANE DOES 1-5, are 

responsible in some manner for the events and wrongful actions described 

herein and caused injury and damages proximately thereby to Plaintiffs. 

20.​Plaintiffs will seek leave of this Court to amend this Complaint to insert the 

true names and capacities of JOHN/JANE DOES a when the same have been 

ascertained, together with appropriate charging allegations, and adjoin such 

Defendants in this action. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

21.​Upon information and belief, Defendant Caschera was hired as a teacher in 

the District and began his role on May 5, 2025.  

22.​Defendant Caschera had no prior teaching experience and was employed 

directly from industry.  

23.​According to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s available data, Defendant 

Caschera does not presently hold a teaching credential as of the date of this 

filing.  

24.​Defendant Caschera did hold a temporary substitute teaching certificate 

which the District went to great lengths to shoehorn the eligibility for 

temporary certification. Such a temporary certification does not require 

educational requirements. Upon information and belief, the District did not 

believe they could qualify Defendant Caschera for a long term certification.  

25.​Defendant Caschera was hired to teach in the Homeland Security program of 

the Career and Technical Education program.  

26.​Plaintiff N.W. was a student in that program.  

27.​On May 28, 2025 Plaintiff N.W. was in Caschera’s class. The class was taking 

a test that day so there was no lecture by Caschera.  

28.​On that date, N.W. would ask to use the restroom but, for unknown reasons, 

was denied multiple times.  

29.​N.W. would then put his head down on his desk.  
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30.​Caschera would react by having another student place smelling salts under 

N.W.’s nose.  

31.​N.W. is a student with several significant allergies.  

32.​When N.W. did not raise his head at a speed sufficient for Caschera’s liking, 

Caschera took extreme action.  

33.​Caschera would then make other students secure N.W. to a backboard.  

34.​N.W. was restrained and totally immobilized including a strap at or just 

below the neck.  

35.​Caschera would then turn the backboard ninety degrees so the backboard 

was vertical.  

36.​N.W. was forced to stand on his toes to avoid the strap pressing on his throat.  

37.​N.W. was left in this state for several minutes.  

38.​N.W. had to feign coughing to get Defendant Caschera to let him down.  

39.​Before allowing N.W. off the backboard Defendant Caschera first asked “are 

you going to stay awake?” 

40.​This shows that Defendant undertook this course of conduct solely to punish 

N.W. for the perception that he was sleeping in class.  

41.​N.W. was then sent out of class for asking to use the restroom and was given 

a zero on the test administered that day.  

42.​N.W. would return home that day and report to his parents what happened 

that day.  
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43.​Defendant Alicia Differ, the Associate Principal for the junior and senior 

class, would call Plaintiff Dr. Page Carol Woods, and report that N.W. would 

be required to serve detention for being sent out of class.  

44.​Plaintiff Page Carol Woods would report to  Defendant Differ the events as 

described by N.W. Page Carol Woods reports that Defendant Differ was 

astonished by the events and upon information and belief then contacted 

Defendant Fisher.  

45.​Plaintiff Page Carol Woods would have several conversations and meetings 

over the days that followed with Defendant Differ and Defendant Fisher.  

46.​Upon information and belief, Defendant Differ and Defendant Fisher spoke 

with Defendant Caschera who reportedly “did not see the wrong in what he 

did.” Defendant Caschera would also state that he was holding N.W. to a 

higher standard than his peers.  

47.​N.W. would apologize to Defendant Caschera.  

48.​On May 30, 2025, Plaintiff Page Carol Woods would tell Defendant Fisher 

that it was only fair that Defendant Caschera also apologize to N.W. for what 

he put him through.  

49.​Defendant Fisher indicated this was a reasonable request and upon 

information and belief gave that direction to Caschera.  

50.​The following Monday, Defendant Caschera told N.W. through an internal 

message that he had until 3:00 P.M. to take the make-up test. But then 

instead forced N.W. to complete the test before the end of class.  
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51.​By Tuesday morning, Defendant Caschera still had not apologized to N.W. 

52.​Plaintiff Page Carol Woods would again contact Defendant Fisher and 

Defendant Differ regarding the apology and the reason for the expeditious 

make-up test.  

53.​Defendant Caschera was unable to explain his reason for the expedited 

make-up test.  

54.​When Defendant Caschera still did not apologize the District scheduled a 

meeting with N.W., Defendant Fisher and Defendant Caschera.  

55.​Defendant Caschera would finally render somewhat of an apologize during 

that meeting by saying “I apologize, but, when I saw your head down, I went 

into scenario mode.” 

56.​The excuse that he was in ‘scenario mode’ does not mesh with his prior 

statement when he conditioned N.W. being released from confinement on a 

promise not to sleep in class.  

57.​It is reported that during this meeting Defendant Caschera would become 

irate and emotional.  

58.​Plaintiff Page Carol Woods and Nathanial Woods Jr. would request a meeting 

with Defendant Fisher and Defendant Caschera.  

59.​Upon arrival at the meeting Defendant Fisher would pull the Plaintiffs aside 

and ask them to remember that Defendant Caschera had only been teaching 

15-20 days. This was an attempt to defend and justify the contact and also 
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serves as an admission that Defendant Caschera was inexperienced and 

poorly trained.  

60.​Defendant Ross would also comment to N.W. that he should “give the teacher 

a chance.” Again an attempt to deflect the seriousness of the situation.  

61.​Upon information and belief, Defendant Caschera’s courses are currently 

being covered by a long term substitute for unknown reasons.  

62.​Upon information and belief, thirteen to fifteen students witnessed the 

assault.  

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I  

VIOLATION OF FOURTH AMENDMENT (UNREASONABLE SEARCH 

AND SEIZURE) - 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. All Defendants  

63.​Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-61 as if set forth fully herein. 

64.​The Fourth Amendment, made applicable to the states via the Tenth 

Amendment, protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. 

See Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 660 (1961). 

65.​Students possess a legitimate, yet limited, expectation of privacy in their 

person and possessions within the school environment. See Cass, supra at 

34-35;  (citing New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 355 (1985)). 

66.​Defendants' seizure of N.W. was unreasonable under the circumstances.  

67.​In the instant matter N.W.'s person was seized by Defendant Caschera when 

he restrained N.W. to a backboard.  
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68.​A "seizure" occurs when a person's freedom of movement is terminated by 

means intentionally applied. 

69.​Defendants, acting under the color of state law, through his role as an 

authority figure in the classroom, unlawfully seized and restrained Plaintiff 

by strapping them to a backboard. This act constituted a seizure without a 

warrant, probable cause, or any other legal justification. 

70.​The seizure was objectively unreasonable under the circumstances. Plaintiff 

posed no threat, and the use of a medical backboard as a form of punishment 

was an excessive and disproportionate use of force. 

71.​The Defendants' actions violated Plaintiff's clearly established constitutional 

right to be free from unreasonable seizure.  

72.​As a result, Plaintiff suffered and will continue to suffer damages in the form 

of emotional distress, reputational harm, and other non-economic and 

compensatory damages, all in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper. 
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COUNT II 

 MUNICIPAL LIABILITY — MONELL CLAIM — 42 U.S.C. § 1983 — 

CUSTOM, POLICY OR PRACTICE 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Williamsport Area School 

District 

73.​Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully herein. 

74.​The School District is liable under Monell v. Department of Social Services, 

436 U.S. 658 (1978). 

75.​Under Monell, a municipal entity, such as a school district, can be held liable 

for the actions of its employees in only select circumstances.  

76.​The elements of a Monell claim are: (1) deprivation of a federal right; (2) some 

governmental action can be traced to the deprivation, i.e., policy or custom; 

(3) policy or custom demonstrating the governmental entity’s fault, i.e., 

deliberate indifference; and (4) municipal action that was the moving force 

behind the federal violation. Dean v. Wexford Health Service, Inc., 18 F.4th 

214, 235 (7th Cir. 2021). 

77.​Relevant to the instant matter, Monell, allows for such liability when the 

action was governed by a practice, policy or custom. 

78.​Defendant School District maintained and failed to maintain customs, 

policies, or practices that were the moving force behind the constitutional 

violations. 

79.​The District developed a practice of processing teachers for the licensing 

option with the least restrictive educational requirements. It is this practice 
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that allowed a teacher with no prior experience and no credentials to be 

unsupervised in the classroom.  

80.​The District failed to develop a training program for newly hired staff. Upon 

review of Defendant Cashcera’s employment record there is no record of any 

training being conducted. 

81.​The District was fully aware Defendant Caschera was inexperienced and 

untrained in teaching. The District was aware of the risks associated with 

such inexperience in the classroom.  

82.​The Defendants' conduct is the direct and proximate cause of the Plaintiff ’s 

harm. 

83.​As a result, Plaintiff suffered and will continue to suffer damages in the form 

of emotional distress, reputational harm, and other non-economic and 

compensatory damages, all in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper. 
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COUNT III  

VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I SECTION 8 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF 

THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA (UNREASONABLE 

SEARCH AND SEIZURE)  

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Richard Caschera 

84.​Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully herein. 

85.​Article 1, Section 8 of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

protects individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. 

86.​“The federal constitution sets the minimum level of constitutional protection 

below which the states cannot fall.” Commonwealth v. Cass,  551 Pa. 25, 32 

(1998) (citing Commonwealth v. Sell, 504 Pa. 46, 63, 470 A.2d 457, 466 

(1983)), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 833.  

87.​Students possess a legitimate, yet limited, expectation of privacy in their 

person and possessions within the school environment. See Cass, supra at 

34-35;  (citing New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 355 (1985)). 

88.​The text of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is 

substantially similar to that of the Fourth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. Accordingly, when analyzing the level of protection offered by 

the Pennsylvania Constitution, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court focuses its 

analysis on case law. Commonwealth v. Edmunds, 526 Pa. at 391, 586 A.2d at 

895 (Pa., 1991). (See footnote 1 supra.) 

89.​ Individualized searches and seizures, of select students, as opposed to 

general searches of the student body (i.e. locker searches) by school officials 

are subject to the “reasonable suspicion” standard under the Pennsylvania 
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Constitution. Commonwealth v. J.B., 719 A.2d 1058, 1060 (Pa.Super. 1998). 

There, the Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania applied the 

reasonableness standard outlined in T.L.O. Id. 

90.​Similarly to J.B., the instant matter was one of an individualized seizure of a 

student rather than a general seizure of the student body. Accordingly, the 

T.L.O. standard is the applicable standard.  

91.​Applying the T.L.O. standard to the instant matter, the seizure was unlawful 

and in violation of Plaintiff ’s rights as secured under the Constitution of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  

92.​Defendants' seizure of Plaintiff ’s body was unreasonable under clearly 

established law. 

93.​To conduct a search or seizure, school officials must have reasonable 

suspicion that the search will uncover evidence of a violation of school policy, 

regulation, or law. TLO, 469 U.S. at 378.  

94.​Here, the Defendants did not have reasonable suspicion they would find 

evidence of a violation because, even assuming arguendo N.W. was sleeping, 

which is a violation of school policy, seizing his body would not garner 

evidence of that.  

95.​Plaintiff had a legitimate expectation of privacy in his body.  

96.​Defendants violated Plaintiff ’s rights by conducting an illegal seizure.  

97.​Defendants acted under color of law by using their position of authority to 

forcibly restrain N.W. upon a backboard.  
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98.​The Defendants' conduct is the direct and proximate cause of the Plaintiff ’s 

harm. 

99.​As a result, Plaintiff suffered and will continue to suffer damages in the form 

of emotional distress, reputational harm, and other non-economic and 

compensatory damages, all in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper 

Count IV​
Civil Rights Claim – State Created Danger 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Williamsport Area 

School District 

100.​ Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully 

herein. 

101.​ In order to establish a claim for state created danger the Plaintiffs must 

establish:  

a.​ That the Defendant, Caschera, engaged in an affirmative act;  

b.​ That the act created a danger the Plaintiff, N.W. would not have 

otherwise been exposed to;  

c.​ The Defendant, Caschera acted with deliberate indifference to the risk 

of harm and;  
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d.​ The state created danger must have been the proximate cause of 

Plaintiff N.W.’s injuries.  

102.​ Here, Defendant District took an affirmative act of not only hiring 

Defendant Caschera but also placed Defendant, Caschera in a room with 

vulnerable children. Defendant, Caschera had no prior teaching experience, 

did not qualify for a full teaching license due to the education requirements 

and was not trained in teaching.  

103.​ Defendant District’s actions and omissions as follows directly caused the 

harm to plaintiff. Specifically Defendant acted to assign Defendant Caschera 

to a classroom without supervision despite his lack of experience and 

training; 

104.​ But for the actions and omissions of Defendant District Plaintiff, N.W. 

would not have been injured.  

105.​ As a result, Plaintiff suffered and will continue to suffer damages in the 

form of emotional distress, reputational harm, and other non-economic and 

compensatory damages, all in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper. 
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Count V 

ASSAULT 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Richard Caschera​  

106.​ Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully 

herein. 

107.​ On the date of the incident at issues in this dispute, the Plaintiff N.W.. a 

minor, was lawfully present on the premises of Williamsport Area High 

School, a public school operated by Defendant District.  

108.​ While Plaintiff, N.W. a minor, was present in a classroom or other school 

setting, Defendant Caschera, without legal justification or provocation, 

intentionally engaged in an act—namely, shoving smelling salts in the face of 

N.W. —that placed Plaintiff, N.W. in immediate apprehension of harmful or 

offensive bodily contact. 

109.​ Defendant Caschera then again assaulted N.W. by having N.W. forcibly 

secured to a backboard which escalated N.W.’s reasonable apprehension 

causing him to think that he may be assaulted yet again.  

110.​ Defendant Caschera’s conduct was intentional and undertaken with the 

specific purpose of causing Plaintiff, N.W. to fear imminent harmful or 

offensive contact, or with knowledge that such fear was substantially certain 

to result. Defendant Caschera was fully aware that Plaintiff N.W. was a 

minor whereas Defendant Caschera was a grown adult.  

111.​ As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Caschera’s actions, 

Plaintiff, N.W. suffered reasonable and actual apprehension of immediate 
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bodily harm, emotional distress, fear, anxiety, and related injuries which 

continues to this day.  

112.​ Defendant Caschera’s conduct was outrageous, unjustified, and 

undertaken in reckless disregard of Plaintiff, N.W.’s personal safety, 

especially considering the teacher-student relationship and Plaintiff N.W. 

status as a minor. 

113.​ Plaintiffs also seek punitive damages against Defendant Caschera due to 

the willful, wanton, and malicious nature of her conduct. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper.  

COUNT VI 

BATTERY 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Richard Caschera​  

 

114.​ Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully 

herein. 

115.​ On the date of the incident at issues in this dispute, the Plaintiff N.W.. a 

minor, was lawfully present on the premises of Williamsport Area High 

School, a public school operated by Defendant District.  

116.​ While Plaintiff, N.W. a minor, was present in a classroom or other school 

setting, Defendant Caschera, without legal justification or provocation, 
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intentionally engaged in an act—namely, having N.W. forcibly restrained to a 

backboard.   

117.​ Defendant Caschera’s conduct was intentional and undertaken with the 

specific purpose of causing offensive contact to Plaintiff, N.W. Defendant 

Caschera was fully aware that Plaintiff N.W. was a minor whereas Defendant 

Caschera was a grown adult.  

118.​ N.W. did not consent to the contact.  

119.​ As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Caschera’s actions, 

Plaintiff, N.W. suffered reasonable and actual apprehension of immediate 

bodily harm, emotional distress, fear, anxiety, and related injuries which 

continues to this day.  

120.​ Defendant Caschera’s conduct was outrageous, unjustified, and 

undertaken in reckless disregard of Plaintiff, N.W.’s personal safety, 

especially considering the teacher-student relationship and Plaintiff N.W. 

status as a minor. 

121.​ Plaintiffs also seek punitive damages against Defendant Caschera due to 

the willful, wanton, and malicious nature of her conduct. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including punitive damages, compensatory 

damages for physical and emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, 

and any other relief this Court deems just and proper. 
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COUNT VII 

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED) 

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Richard Caschera 

122.​ Plaintiff incorporates preceding paragraphs 1-62 as if set forth fully 

herein. 

123.​ At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Caschera was employed by 

Defendant District and was acting under color of state law and within the 

scope of their employment and/or agency. 

124.​ While Plaintiff N.W. a minor, was present in a classroom or educational 

setting at Defendant, Williamsport Area School District, Defendant Caschera 

without justification or provocation, intentionally and forcefully restrained 

N.W. 

125.​ Defendant Caschera’s conduct was extreme and outrageous, exceeding all 

bounds of decency typically tolerated in a civilized society, particularly in the 

context of a teacher-student relationship, where the teacher occupies a 

position of authority and trust and even more so when the teacher-student 

relationship is between a kindergarten child and an adult teacher.  

126.​ Defendant Caschera intentionally or recklessly engaged in conduct with 

the knowledge that it was substantially certain to cause severe emotional 

distress to the Plaintiff,  N.W. or acted with reckless disregard of the high 

probability that emotional distress would result. 

127.​ Plaintiff, N.W. a minor, suffered severe emotional distress, including but 

not limited to anxiety, fear, trauma, mental anguish, and disruption of her 
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academic and social development, as a direct and proximate result of 

Defendant’s conduct.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs now demand judgment against Defendants for all 

damages allowed under the law, including compensatory damages for physical and 

emotional harm, medical expenses, costs of this action, and any other relief this 

Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT VIII  

 FALSE IMPRISONMENT  

Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr, o/b/o N.W. v. Richard Caschera 
 

128.​ Plaintiffs hereby reallege all matters set forth in the preceding 

paragraphs  1-62 of this complaint and incorporate them herein. 

129.​ In order to establish a claim for false imprisonment, the Plaintiff must 

show: (1) a willful detention; (2) without consent and; (3) a deprivation of 

liberty.  

130.​ Here, the Richard Caschera was aware he was detaining N.W. 

131.​ There is evidence that it was without consent, as he asked to get down 

and Defendant Caschera stated he was only letting him down based on his 

averment not to sleep in class more.  

132.​ N.W.’s liberty was deprived as he was unable to move freely, was confined 

to a backboard, and was denied all freedom of movement.  

133.​ Accordingly, Plaintiff has established that the Defendants falsely 

imprisoned N.W.  
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COUNT IX 

DECLARATORY RELIEF​
Page Carol Woods and Nathaniel Woods Jr., o/b/o N.W. v. All Defendants 

134.​ Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all preceding paragraphs 1 through 62 

as if fully set forth herein. 

135.​ This claim is brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, which 

authorize this Court to declare the rights and legal relations of the parties 

and to grant such further necessary or proper relief based on such 

declarations. 

136.​ An actual controversy exists between the parties concerning the legality 

and constitutionality of the actions taken by Defendants, including but not 

limited to: 

●​ The physical seizure and restraint of Plaintiff N.W. without legal 

justification or probable cause; 

●​ The failure of the District to properly supervise, train, or credential its 

staff in a manner that protects students from excessive or punitive 

physical measures; 

●​ The implementation of policies and practices that enabled unqualified 

personnel to interact with students without adequate oversight; 

●​ The retaliation against N.W. and denial of academic opportunities 

following the incident; 

●​ The Defendants’ failure to follow basic standards of student safety and 

constitutional protections in educational settings. 
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137.​ These actions give rise to continuing harm to Plaintiff N.W. and the risk of 

future recurrence if not addressed by the Court. 

138.​ Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that: 

●​ The conduct of the Defendants violated Plaintiff N.W.’s rights under 

the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution; 

●​ The conduct of the Defendants violated Plaintiff N.W.’s rights under 

Article I, Section 8 of the Pennsylvania Constitution; 

●​ The policies, customs, and practices of the Williamsport Area School 

District that allowed such conduct to occur are unconstitutional and 

unlawful under 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

●​ The individual Defendants’ actions constituted unlawful and excessive 

punishment in an educational setting. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in 

their favor and against all Defendants, and issue declaratory relief as set forth 

above, along with such further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

A. Enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against all Defendants;​

 B. Award compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial;​

 C. Award punitive damages against the individual Defendants;​
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 D. Award reasonable attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988;​

 E. Grant declaratory relief stating that Defendants’ actions violated Plaintiff ’s 

constitutional rights; and​

 F. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

DATED: August 21, 2025 

 

/s/Joseph W. Montgomery​ ​            

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Joseph W. Montgomery, Esq. 

​ .​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​  

 

Montgomery Law Group, PLLC  

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Attorneys for Plaintiff 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ 1420 Locust St, Suite 420 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Philadelphia, PA 19102 

​ T: (267) 401-5252 

​ F: (888) 954-5529 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Principal email address: ​ ​ ​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Joe@educationlawyers.com 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Secondary email  

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ (NOT for Service of Pleadings and ​
​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ Documents) 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ lynn@iwantjustice.com 

 

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​  
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